FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/15/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/14/2024 2:33 PM

Case #: 1035403

Supreme Court No. _____

No. 85773-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as Trustee for CWABS Inc., Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2007-2,

Appellant,

and

GWEN S. BARTOL,

Respondent.

On Appeal from King County Superior Court No. 23-2-05109-2 KNT

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Janis G. White, WSBA 29158 Attorneys for Appellant Fidelity National Law Group 601 Union St., Suite 3225 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 224-6004

1

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER			
II.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1			
III.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	The First Lawsuit		
	В.	The Second Lawsuit		
	C.	The Appeal10		
V.	ARG	UMENT14		
VI.	CONCLUSION			
APPENDIX				
1.	Court of Appeals Decision, dated August 19, 2024 A-1			
2.		Denying BNY Mellon's Motion for nsideration, dated September 13, 2024		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u>
In re King County for the Foreclosure of Liens for Delinquent Real Property Taxes for the Years 1985 Through 1988 and Some Prior Years, 117 Wn.2d 77, 811 P.2d 945 (1991)19
King County v. Farr, 7 Wn. App. 600, 501 P.2d 612, rev. denied, 81 Wn.2d 1009 (1972)
Litzell v. Hart, 96 Wn. 471, 165 P. 393 (1917)
O'Bryan v. American Inv. & Imp. Co., 50 Wn. 371, 97 P. 241 (1908)
Presidential Estates Apt. Ass'n v. Barrett, 129 Wn.2d 320, 917 P.2d 100 (1996)
Rohrs and Rohrs, 29 Wn. App. 2d 1021 (2024) 15
Shaw v. City of Des Moines, 109 Wn. App. 896, 37 P.3d 1255 (2002)
State v. Bogart, 546 P.3d 526 (2024)
Thompson v. King County, 163 Wn. App. 184, 259 P.3d 1138 (2011)
Weaver v. City of Everett, 4 Wn. App.2d 303, 421 P.3d 1013 (2018), aff'd, 194 Wn.2d 464, 450 P.3d 177 (2019) 12

REGULATIONS AND RULES

GR 14.1(a)	. 15
RAP 13.4	, 15

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee for CWABS, Inc., Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2007-2 ("Appellant" or "BNY Mellon") respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, BNY Mellon respectfully requests review of the decision by the Court of Appeals, dated August 19, 2024, terminating review, and review of the decision by the Court of Appeals, dated September 13, 2024, denying BNY Mellon's motion for reconsideration. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-13. A copy of the order denying motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at pages A-14 through A-15.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court of Appeals' failure to recognize the validity of a cause of action to reform a judgment raises a

matter of substantial public interest and should be reviewed by the Supreme Court.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The First Lawsuit

In 2020, BNY Mellon commenced a lawsuit against Bartol in the Superior Court of King County (Case No. 20-2-10662-3 KNT) for reformation and breach of contract (the "First Lawsuit"). The First Amended Complaint in the First Lawsuit alleged that Bartol owns real property commonly known as 26867 156th Place Southeast, Covington, Washington (the "Property"), obtained a loan from America's Wholesale Lender in 2007 and signed a Deed of Trust (the "Deed of Trust") encumbering the Property as security for the loan. CP 75-76. The First Amended Complaint further alleged that BNY Mellon is the current beneficiary of the Deed of Trust. CP 77.

According to the First Amended Complaint in the First Lawsuit, the Deed of Trust set forth the correct street address of the Property but only included the legal descriptions of two tax

parcels (Parcels 9054 and 9034) even though the Property was made up of four tax parcels (Parcels 9140, 9047, 9054 and 9034.¹) CP 76. The First Amended Complaint sought reformation of the Deed of Trust to include the legal descriptions of all four tax parcels and sought damages for breach of a Document Correction Agreement. CP 74-79.

The First Lawsuit was tried to the Court on July 12 and 13, 2021, Honorable Regina Cahan, presiding. On July 26, 2021, the Court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (the "Findings and Conclusions"). CP 119-30. The Court entered Final Judgment on September 23, 2021 (the "Judgment"). CP 132-36.

In the Findings and Conclusions, the Court ruled that the Deed of Trust should be reformed but that it only encumbered two of the four tax parcels, Parcels 9054 and 9047, the two parcels on which Bartol's residence is located. CP 122. The

¹ The full King County tax parcel numbers are 2622059140, 2622059047, 2622059054 and 2622059034.

following aerial photo, also included in the Findings and Conclusions (CP 121), shows the location of the four tax parcels:



The Findings and Conclusions specified that, as shown on the aerial photograph, "Parcel 9047 includes a portion of the residence, a portion of the barn structure and a portion of the driveway." CP 121.

Judge Cahan found that "[c]learly the deed of trust, at a minimum, should have been for the lots where the house was situated, 9054 and 9047." CP 127. Thus, she held that

"reformation to amend the Deed of Trust to reflect the parties' original intent to encumber Parcel 9054 and Parcel 9047 is an appropriate remedy." CP 127.

According to the Judgment, the legal description of Parcel 9054 was the following:

THE NORTH 125 FEET OF THE EAST OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST, W.M., IN KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON;

EXCEPT THAT PORTION LYING WITHIN THE EAST 55 FEET OF THE NORTH 125 FEET OF SAID EAST 218 FEET.

CP 134.

According to the Judgment, the legal description of Parcel 9047 was the following:

THE EAST 198 FEET OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 22 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST, W.M., IN KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON.

EXCEPT ANY PORTION CONDEMNED BY PROCEEDINGS IN KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO 96-2-0503707 KNT

(ALSO KNOWN AS TRACT A OF UNRECORDED KING COUNTY BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENT NO. L93 1056).

SITUATE IN THE CITY OF COVINGTON, COUNTY OF KING, STATE OF WASHINGTON.

CP 135.

Following entry of the Judgment, BNY Mellon discovered two errors in the Judgment. The legal description of Parcel 9054 (Parcel A in the Judgment) omitted two words — "218 Feet." In addition, the legal description of Parcel 9047 (Parcel B in the Judgment) did not actually describe Parcel 9047 as shown in the aerial photograph, but instead describes adjacent land that was not the subject of the First Lawsuit. CP 72. Thus, the legal description used for Parcel 9047 in the Judgment did not describe the land on which a portion of the house, a portion of the barn and a portion of the driveway were located.

On December 5, 2022, BNY Mellon filed a Motion to Correct Final Judgment in the First Lawsuit (the "Motion to Correct"). Judge Cahan, the trial judge, had retired, and the Motion to Correct was decided by Judge Phelps. The Court granted the Motion to Correct in part and denied the Motion to Correct in part by Order, dated January 10, 2023. CP 138-45. Specifically, the Court corrected the legal description of Parcel 9054, by agreement of the parties. The corrected legal description of Parcel 9054 is now as follows:

The North 125 feet of the East 218 feet of the North Half of the Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 26, Township 22 North, Range 5 East, W.M. in King County, Washington

Except that portion lying within the East 55 feet of the North 125 feet of said East 218 feet

Situate in the City of Covington, County of King, State of Washington.

King County Parcel #2622059054

The proposed correction of the legal description of Parcel 9047 was as follows:

West 442 feet of the North Half of the Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 26 Township 22 North, Range 5 East, W.M. in King County, Washington Except any portion condemned by proceedings in King County Superior Court Cause No 96-2-0503707 KNT

Bartol objected to the proposed correction of the legal description of Parcel 9047. The Court held as follows in its Order:

The Final Judgment entered by the Trial Court (Judge Cahan), is consistent with the language contained within the admitted Trial Exhibit 2. Judge Cahan, the finder of fact and law, adopted that language when she executed the Final Judgment. As such, outside of an agreement of the parties, no legal basis for this judicial officer to disturb Judge Cahan's orders.

CP 140.

An Amended Final Judgment correcting the legal description of Parcel 9054 was entered by the Court on March 16, 2023 (the "Amended Judgment"). CP 147-52.

B. The Second Lawsuit

The "Second Lawsuit was brought to reform the Judgment and the Amended Judgment in the First Lawsuit and the Deed of Trust.² CP 1-48. As a result of the Judgment and Amended Judgment, only half of Bartol's residence was encumbered by the Deed of Trust, an absurd result that was not intended by Judge Cahan. *See* CP 127. The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. CP 57-70 and 153-67. The court granted Bartol's motion for summary judgment and denied BNY Mellon's motion for summary judgment. CP 409-11.

The trial court also granted Bartol's motion for an award of attorneys' fees and costs in the full amount requested, \$17,814.97. CP 443-46.

² BNY Mellon did not appeal the Superior Court's partial denial of its motion to correct the Judgment in the First Lawsuit because the standard of review on appeal would have been abuse of discretion. *See Presidential Estates Apt. Ass'n v. Barrett*, 129 Wn.2d 320, 325-26, 917 P.2d 100 (1996); *Shaw v. City of Des Moines*, 109 Wn. App. 896, 900, 37 P.3d 1255 (2002).

C. The Appeal

BNY Mellon appealed, and the Court of Appeals issued its decision on August 19, 2024. The Court of Appeals framed the issue on appeal in the first sentence of its opinion: "The central issue in this appeal is whether Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee for CWABS Inc., Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2007-2 (BNY Mellon), can pursue claims to reform the legal description of encumbered property for a loan made to Gwen S. Bartol when it asserted claims seeking the same relief, unsuccessfully, in a prior lawsuit." Opinion at 1.

However, the Court of Appeals also quoted the finding by the trial judge in the First Lawsuit finding "that reformation to amend the Deed of Trust to reflect the parties' original intent to encumber Parcel 9054 and Parcel 9047 is an appropriate remedy. BNY Mellon is entitled to reformation of the Deed of Trust to include the legal descriptions of the Parcel 9054 and

Parcel 9047."³ Opinion at 4. Thus, BNY Mellon's reformation claim in the First Lawsuit was successful.

The Court of Appeals noted that the Second Lawsuit asserted two causes of action for reformation:

The first cause of action seeks reformation of the final judgment in the First Lawsuit. In this first cause of action, BNY Mellon alleges that by "mutual mistake or scrivener's error, the legal description of Parcel 9047 in the Final Judgment ... is incorrect" and "should be reformed to the correct legal description of Parcel 9047." The second cause of action alleges that by "mutual mistake or scrivener's error, the legal description of Parcel 9047 in the [2023] Deed of Trust is incorrect" and "should be reformed to the correct legal description of Parcel 9047."

The Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal of the Second Lawsuit on summary judgment, holding that BNY Mellon's claim to reform the Deed of Trust was barred by claim preclusion principles. Opinion at 6.

³ The Deed of Trust originally encumbered Parcel 9054 and Parcel 9034, not Parcel 9047.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals addressed the first two elements required to establish claim preclusion, "concurrence of identity ... (1) of subject-matter; [and] (2) of cause of action" Opinion at 7 (citing Weaver v. City of Everett, 4 Wn. App. 2d 303, 320, 421 P.3d 1013 (2018), aff'd, 194 Wn.2d 464, 450 P.3d 177 (2019)).

First, the Court of Appeals found that there was concurrence of identity of subject matter:

BNY Mellon asserts the same cause of action (reformation) against the same party (Bartol) to reform the same document (the Deed of Trust) in both lawsuits. As a result, both of BNY Mellon's lawsuits sought the same theory of recovery based on the same underlying facts. Thus, the subject matter is identical and the first element of claim preclusion is satisfied.

Opinion at 8.

Second, applying the criteria outlined in *Thompson v*.

King County, 163 Wn. App. 184, 196, 259 P.3d 1138 (2011),

the Court of Appeals held that there was concurrence of identity of cause of action:

First, the rights established in the prior judgment would be impaired if the legal description of Parcel 9047 in the Deed of Trust is reformed. BNY Mellon's proposed legal description of Parcel 9047 is different from the one in the 2023 Deed of Trust. As a result, if BNY Mellon were to succeed in this action, it would impair the rights and interests established in the first action. Second, the two suits involve the infringement of the same BNY Mellon argues that the right. Deed of Trust, even after reformation, still does not encumber the correct land and, therefore, it seeks to reform the Deed of Trust a second time. Third, and finally, the two suits arise out of the same transactional nucleus of facts. Both actions arise from Bartol's transaction with America's Wholesale Lender where she signed the Deed of Trust encumbering her property as security for a loan. As a result, the causes of action in the two lawsuits are identical and the remaining element of claim preclusion is satisfied.

Opinion at 9.

V. ARGUMENT

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), a petition for review will be accepted "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

Although the Court of Appeals recited in its decision that BNY Mellon asserted two claims for reformation in the Second Lawsuit, one for reformation of the Judgment and Amended Judgment in the First Lawsuit and one for reformation of the Deed of Trust, its analysis and decision focuses exclusively on BNY Mellon's claim for reformation of the Deed of Trust. Specifically, the Court of Appeals found that the claim for reformation of the Deed of Trust was barred by claim preclusion.

Underlying the Court of Appeals' decision is the apparent belief that there is no recognized legal claim in the State of Washington for reformation of a *judgment*.

However, courts in Washington have long recognized that "[t]he superior court has inherent power, independent of

statute, to so modify its judgment entry as to make it conform to the judgment actually entered at any time when to do so will not affect substantial rights of innocent third persons who have acted on the faith of the entry." *O'Bryan v. American Inv. & Imp. Co.*, 50 Wn. 371, 374, 97 P. 241 (1908). *See also Litzell v. Hart*, 96 Wn. 471, 477-79, 165 P. 393 (1917) (upholding "meritorious cause of action to reform the judgment entry"); *Rohrs and Rohrs*, 29 Wn. App. 2d 1021, at *10 (2024)⁴ (recognizing court's "inherent power to amend and reform its judgment entry"); *State v. Bogart*, 546 P.3d 526, 533 (2024) (recognizing court's authority to correct judgment and sentence to reflect its original intention).

By not recognizing the validity of a claim for reformation of a judgment, the Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended that the central focus of this Second Lawsuit

⁴ GR 14.1(a) provides that "unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, may be cited as nonbinding authorities, if identified as such by the citing party, and may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate."

was BNY Mellon's claim to reform the Judgment and Amended Judgment in the First Lawsuit because they did not reflect the trial Judge's intent as set forth in detail in her Findings and Conclusions after trial. Specifically, Judge Cahan made clear that she intended her ruling to result in the two parcels upon which Bartol's home was located to be encumbered by the Deed of Trust. *See* Opinion at 4 (trial court in First Lawsuit "agreed that the two parcels that included portions of Bartol's house (9047 and 9054) should be encumbered.") and CP 127 ("Clearly the deed of trust, at a minimum, should have been for the lots where the house was situated, 9054 and 9047.").

The Court of Appeals recognized that the description of Parcel 9047 in the Judgment did not reflect Judge Cahan's intent because it "includes only Tract A of Parcel 9047 despite the fact that two tracts make up Parcel 9047 – Tract A and Tract B – and the only portion of Bartol's home that is located on Parcel 9047 is located on Tract B and not on Tract A." Opinion at 4. However, because the Court of Appeals treated the case as

only a claim to reform the Deed of Trust, and not a claim to reform the Judgment and Amended Judgment, only half of Bartol's house is encumbered by the Deed of Trust, an absurd result that was not intended by Judge Cahan.

The Court of Appeals, in its decision, never addresses whether the reformation cause of action seeking to reform the Judgment and Amended Judgment in the First Lawsuit was barred by claim preclusion. Rather, the Court of Appeals found that BNY Mellon sought reformation of the same document, the Deed of Trust, in both lawsuits – overlooking that BNY Mellon also sought reformation of the Judgment and Amended Judgment. Thus, in its analysis of the elements of claim preclusion, the Court of Appeals should not have found identity of the subject matter.

The Court of Appeals also should not have found identity of the cause of action. In the Second Lawsuit, BNY Mellon argued first and foremost that the *Judgment and Amended Judgment* in the First Lawsuit did not encumber the land

that the *Deed of Trust* did not encumber the correct land and thus, did not involve infringement of the same right. Finally, the Second Lawsuit arose out of the trial in the First Lawsuit and the central issue was whether the Judgment and Amended Judgment were consistent with *Judge Cahan's intent* after trial in 2021, not whether the Judgment and Amended Judgment were consistent with *Bartol and the lender's intent* when Bartol signed the Deed of Trust in 2007. Thus, the two lawsuits do not arise out of the same transactional nucleus of facts.

Accordingly, because the Court of Appeals failed to recognize the validity of a cause of action to reform a judgment, the Court did not analyze whether BNY Mellon's claim for reformation of the Judgment and Amended Judgment in the First Lawsuit was barred by claim preclusion. This failure to recognize and analyze a recognized cause of action under Washington law raises an issue of substantial public interest.

An error in a judgment may not be discovered until months or years later when, for example, the affected property is sold, transferred or refinanced. Failure to recognize a party's right to bring a new lawsuit to reform a judgment would mean that error could never be fixed – even, for example, if the judgment included an obvious error like a failure to include a necessary legal description. Indeed, courts have recognized the public policy reasons why it is crucial to have accurate legal descriptions of property. See, e.g., In re King County for the Foreclosure of Liens for Delinquent Real Property Taxes for the Years 1985 Through 1988 and Some Prior Years, 117 Wn.2d 77, 85, 811 P.2d 945 (1991) ("A [tax foreclosure] judgment which does not contain an adequate description is void on its face"); King County v. Farr, 7 Wn. App. 600, 611, 501 P.2d 612, rev. denied, 81 Wn.2d 1009 (1972) (legal description of property in condemnation order of public use and necessity must be accurate).

The Supreme Court should therefore accept review and clarify that a cause of action to reform a judgment exists under Washington law.

VI. CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, BNY Mellon respectfully requests that the Court grant its petition for review.