FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/15/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### SUPREME COURT NO. 1035403

No. 85773-8

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

# BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, AS TRUSTEE OF CWABS INC., ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2007-2

Appellant,

v.

GWEN S. BARTOL,

Respondent.

#### RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Lars E. Neste, WSBA #28781 Skyler B. Gunderson, WSBA #54013 Attorneys for Respondent

DEMCO LAW FIRM, P.S. 5224 Wilson Ave. S., Suite 200 Seattle, WA 98118 (206) 203-600

### **

INTRODUCTION
ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 2
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT 8
A. Standard for Review 8
B. The Court of Appeals did not fail to recognize
reformation of a judgment as a cause of action 9
C. The Court of Appeals properly considered the
two causes of action11
D. The Court of Appeals' decision has no impact on
the public policy need for accurate legal
descriptions
CONCLUSION
APPENDIX
1. Court of Appeals Decision, dated August 19, 2024A-1

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### Cases

Marshall v. Thurston County, 165 Wn. App. 346, 267 P.3d 491 (2011)	
Rains v. State, 100 Wn.2d 6600, 674 P.2d 165 (1983) 14	
Reeves v. Mason Cty., 22 Wn. App. 2d 99, 509 P.3d 859 (2022)	
State v. Watson, 155 Wn2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) 8, 9	
Other Authorities	
RAP 13.4	

### I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Appellant, Bank of New York Mellon FKA the Bank of New York, as Trustee for the Certificate-holders of CWABS Inc. Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2007-2, ("Appellant"), brings this petition in one final attempt to relitigate claims that have already been decided. In doing so, Appellant argues that the Unpublished Opinion from the Court of Appeals, dated August 19, 2024, failed to recognize a cause of action for reformation of a final judgment.

However, Appellant misreads the Court's opinion. The Court of Appeals did not hold that there existed no cause of action for reformation of a judgment nor did the court fail to recognize or even analyze the same. Rather, they simply viewed Appellant's second lawsuit, including both claims for reformation as an impermissible second bite at the apple and barred by claim preclusion. Thus, Appellant's petition is merely Appellant's dissatisfaction with the lower courts' decision in a private dispute, and has no substantial public impact.

# II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Did the Court of Appeals fail to recognize a cause of action to reform a judgment, thus raising a matter of substantial public interest? **No.**
- B. Did the Court of Appeals fail to analyze the cause of action to reform a judgment? **No.**

### III. STATEMENT OF CASE

Ms. Bartol is the owner of the property commonly known as 26867 156<sup>th</sup> Place SE, Covington, WA, King County parcel #2622059054 ("Parcel 9054"). Additionally, Ms. Bartol is the owner of three adjacent parcels, King County parcel #2622059047 ("Parcel 9047"), King County parcel #2622059034 ("Parcel 9034"), and King County parcel #2622059140 ("Parcel 9140"), (collectively the "Property").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 168.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Id*.

Ms. Bartol's personal residence straddles both Parcel 9054 and



In March 2007, Ms. Bartol obtained a loan from America's Wholesale Lender.<sup>4</sup> The loan was intended only for Parcel 9054 and Parcel 9047, the two parcels upon which Ms. Bartol's residence lies.<sup>5</sup> On March 14, 2007, Ms. Bartol granted a deed of trust to trustee Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") as Nominee for America's Wholesale Lender. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 168, 173-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 168-69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id.*; see CP 190-204.

deed of trust was recorded under King County recording #20070322000580 (the "Deed of Trust"). Despite the fact that Ms. Bartol's home straddles Parcel 9054 and Parel 9047, the Deed of Trust erroneously encumbered Parcel 9054 and Parcel 9034.

On June 30, 2011, the Deed of Trust was assigned to Plaintiff, the Bank of New York Mellon FKA the Bank of New York, as Trustee for the Certificate-holders of CWABS Inc. Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2007-2 ("Appellant" or "BNYM"), under King County recording #20110630000146.8

In July 2020, following a failed attempted foreclosure, BNYM initiated a lawsuit under King County Cause #20-2-10662-3 KNT (the "First Lawsuit"), asserting claims for breach of contract and reformation of the Deed of Trust against Ms. Bartol and requesting that the Deed of Trust be amended to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 206-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 169, 223.

reflect the legal descriptions for all four parcels that the quit claim deeds vested title in Ms. Bartol.<sup>9</sup> On July 12, 2021, the First Lawsuit proceeded to trial on all claims asserted by BNYM. On July 26, 2021, in the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the trial court concluded that reformation of the Deed of Trust was appropriate due to the parties' mutual mistake in executing the original Deed of Trust.<sup>10</sup> The trial court ordered the Deed of Trust be reformed to only encumber Parcel 9054 and Parcel 9047 upon which Ms. Bartol's residence lies.<sup>11</sup>

On or about December 5, 2022, BNYM filed a Motion to Correct Final Judgment, asking the trial court to correct the final judgment to set forth the full and complete legal descriptions of Parcel 9054 and Parcel 9047. The legal description for Parcel 9054 of the Final Judgment appeared to be missing two words

<sup>9</sup> CP 1-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 287, 305-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id*.

from the legal description.<sup>12</sup> Ms. Bartol did not dispute this correction.

However, the legal description for Parcel 9047 in the Final Judgment correctly described the deed that was entered into evidence at trial in the First Lawsuit and relied upon by the trial court in preparing the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.<sup>13</sup> The parties did not offer any evidence in support of a legal description for Parcel 9047 except for the one identified in the exhibit presented at trial in the First Lawsuit.

As a result, the trial court held that:

The Final Judgment entered by the Trial Court (Judge Cahan), is consistent with the language contained within the admitted Trial Exhibit 2. Judge Cahan, the finder of fact and law, adopted that language when she executed the Final Judgment. As such, outside of an agreement of the parties, there is no legal basis for this judicial officer to disturb Judge Cahan's orders. <sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 287, 318-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *Id.*, see also CP 327-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 320.

As such, an Amended Final Judgment (the "Amended Judgment") correcting the legal description of Parcel 9054 was entered by the trial court on March 16, 2023, but the legal description for Parcel 9047 was undisturbed. BNYM did not appeal the court's decision.

Instead, BNYM brought a second lawsuit, the underlying action, asserting claims for reformation of the Deed of Trust and reformation of the Amended Judgment from the First Lawsuit. <sup>16</sup>
Both parties filed motions for summary judgment and the trial court granted Bartol's motion and denied BNYM's motion. <sup>17</sup>
The trial court also granted Bartol's motion for attorney's fees and costs. <sup>18</sup>

BNYM appealed the trial court's decision.<sup>19</sup> The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's granting of Bartol's summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 318-325.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 1-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 409-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 443-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 447-58.

judgment on the basis that BNYM's claims were barred by claim preclusion. BNYM now seeks review from the Supreme Court on the basis that the Court of Appeals failed to recognize a distinct cause of action from BYNM for reformation of the Amended Judgment from the First Lawsuit.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard for Review.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4 a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Appellant seeks this petition on the basis that the Court of Appeals failed to recognize a cause of action for reformation of a judgment and, such alleged failure is a matter of substantial public interest. Review by the Supreme Court, under the substantial public interest requirement, is appropriate if an incorrect holding may have "sweeping implications" beyond the aggrieved parties.<sup>20</sup>

However, the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter does not have sweeping implications beyond the affected parties to this case and, thus, the substantial public interest requirement has not been met.

## B. The Court of Appeals did not fail to recognize reformation of a judgment as a cause of action.

BNYM's primary argument is that the Court of Appeals failed to recognize an established cause of action by failing to differentiate BNYM's claim for reformation of the Deed of Trust from reformation of the Amended Judgment in the First Lawsuit. BNYM argues that failing to recognize the validity of a cognizable claim has a substantial impact on public interest.

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See State v. Watson, 155. Wn.2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (granting review under 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision regarding the definition of ex parte communications had sweeping implications).

Bartol does not dispute that reformation is a valid cause of action, regardless of the document sought to be reformed, whether that be a deed of trust or a prior judgment. However, the Court of Appeals did not state or indicate in its opinion that a cause of action of for reformation of a judgment did not exist. Rather, the Court of Appeals expressly acknowledged that BNYM "assert[ed] two causes of action for reformation." The first being "reformation of the final judgment in the First Lawsuit" and the second being reformation of the Deed of Trust.<sup>22</sup> Moreover, the Court of Appeals properly analyzed the cause of action for reformation of the Amended Judgment under the lens of claim preclusion.<sup>23</sup> The Court of Appeals simply concluded that it was identical in subject matter and cause of action as the First Lawsuit, as discussed further below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Unpublished Opinion at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id.* at 7-9.

Thus, it appears clear, by the substance of BNYM's brief, that BNYM's primarily objection with the Court of Appeals is simply the way the court *analyzed* such a cause of action as it pertains to this particular set of facts and the ultimate conclusion reached. Such analysis only affects the parties to this action and has absolutely no "sweeping implications" beyond the case at hand. Thus, this matter is not one that should be reviewed by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4.

## C. The Court of Appeals properly considered the two causes of action.

BNYM seemingly argues that the Court of Appeals did not recognize a cause of action for reformation of the Amended Judgment because they did not analyze that cause of action separately from the claim for reformation of the Deed of Trust. Specifically, BNYM argues that, had the Court of Appeals analyzed both causes of action separately, the Court of Appeals

should not have found concurrence in the identity of the subject matter or the cause of action in the two lawsuits.<sup>24</sup>

As discussed above, BNYM's grievance in the Court of Appeals' analysis is one that is case specific and does not have a substantial impact on public interest. But nevertheless, the Court of Appeals properly analyzed both claims, simultaneously, and concluded such claims, including the separate and distinct cause of action for reformation of the Amended Judgment, were barred by claim preclusion.

Under Washington law, for the doctrine of res judicata to apply, a prior judgment must have a concurrence of identity with a subsequent action in (1) subject matter, (2) cause of action, (3) persons and parties, and (4) the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>24</sup> Appellant's brief at 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Reeves v. Mason Cty., 22 Wn. App. 2d 99, 114-15 509 P.3d 859 (2022).

The Court of Appeals correctly considered both causes of action in concluding that the two actions share the same subject matter as the First Lawsuit. The Court of Appeals concluded that "BNY Mellon asserts the same cause of action (reformation) against the same party (Bartol) to reform the same document (the Deed of Trust) in both lawsuits."<sup>26</sup> BNYM argues that in so concluding, the Court of Appeals ignored the cause of action for reformation of the Amended Judgment. However, concurrence in subject matter does not mean the exact same cause of action but, instead, focuses on the "asserted theory of recovery."<sup>27</sup>

Here, the Court of Appeals rightfully concluded that reformation, whether of the Deed of Trust or the Amended Judgment, brings about the same end result – a change to or reformation of the legal description contained in the Deed of Trust. Regardless of how BNYM attempts to frame it, the

<sup>26</sup> Unpublished Opinion at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See Marshall v. Thurston County., 165 Wn. App. 346, 353, 267 P.3d 491 (2011).

asserted theory of recovery, and the ultimate resolution, is the same in both lawsuits, regardless of which document BNYM seeks to reform. Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded concurrence of subject matter in the First Lawsuit and Second Lawsuit.

Next, BNYM argues that the Court of Appeals should not have found concurrence of cause of action because the claim for reformation of the Amended Judgment was based on the fact that "the Judgment and Amended Judgment in the First Lawsuit did not encumber the land intended by the trial Judge" which was "different from the claim that the Deed of Trust did not encumber the correct land."28 BNYM is trying to draw a distinction where there isn't one. Again, both claims for reformation, whether reformation of the Deed of Trust or reformation of the Amended Judgment, sought the same end result – a change to the legal description in the Deed of Trust. Both claims involved the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Appellant's brief at 17-18.

rights of the parties, which property is encumbered, and both claims involved the same transactional nucleus of facts giving rise to such claims, both elements for concurrence of identity of cause of action.<sup>29</sup> Thus, analyzing the claims simultaneously does not amount to a failure to recognize the validity of the cause of action for reformation of the Amended Judgment.

Rather, as is clear throughout the Court's opinion, each of these distinct causes of action were properly considered by the Court of Appeals. BNYM just disagrees with the court's outcome. Such does not warrant a review by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4 and does not have sweeping implications beyond this case.

# D. The Court of Appeals' decision has no impact on the public policy need for accurate legal descriptions.

Finally, BNYM argues that the Supreme Court should accept review because there are "public policy reasons why it is crucial

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> *Rains v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 6600, 674 P.2d 165 (1983); *see also* Unpublished Opinion at 9.

to have accurate legal descriptions of property..."30 Bartol does not disagree with the cases cited by BNYM in their petition, nor does Bartol disagree that court precedent makes clear the policy reasons behind needing accurate legal descriptions.

However, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not disturb this precedent and makes no ruling or holding related to the need for accurate legal descriptions. Rather, the accuracy of legal descriptions, and the public policy surrounding the same, are not at issue at all in the Court of Appeals' opinion. Instead, the Court of Appeals focused solely on the relitigation of the same claims brought by BNYM involving one particular Deed of Trust in dispute. Again, BNYM's petition is simply their dissatisfaction with the outcome of their appeal masked as an attempted public policy issue. In reality, the Court of Appeals' opinion affects the parties to the lawsuit, only, and has no broader implications. Thus, denial of review is appropriate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Appellant's brief at 19.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Ms. Bartol respectfully requests that the Court deny BNYM's petition for review.